STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Anderson County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

ANDREW ANTONIO CLEMONS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000941

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Feb 22 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to call Dr. Elzbieta Syed, a pediatrician, as a witness during Petitioner's trial, where Dr. Syed examined Minor after the sexual abuse allegations arose and found Minor's hymen was intact, which indicated no trauma or penetration, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since, without Dr. Syed's testimony, the testimony of Dr. Sallie Carter, a state expert witness who maintained a portion of Minor's hymen was absent, which was consistent with penetration, went unchallenged, particularly where Dr. Carter's testimony was the only physical evidence against Petitioner?

2.

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) judge err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to the testimony of Dr. Sallie Carter, who was qualified as an expert in child sexual assault examinations, where Carter asserted that after watching Minor's forensic interview, she was "more concerned" and "more convinced" that Minor's injury was caused by penetration and that Minor's "report . . . together with an abnormal genital exam, to me in my professional opinion, that's like saying one and one is two or two and two is four. I wasn't there. I didn't see it. But I have a lot of experience in this area . . ." since this testimony constituted improper bolstering and vouching, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different if counsel had objected?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner and Minor's mother, Telfia Johnson, began dating shortly after Minor was born. Petitioner and Johnson went on to have three children together. The couple lived together "on and off" until August 2010. App. 59, l. 6 – 60, l. 10. The state alleged at trial that Petitioner sexually abused Minor, his stepdaughter, between December 2009 and August 2010 when Minor was seven and eight years old. App. 614-617.

Johnson testified that she first became aware of the allegations in January 2011 when she heard Minor and her younger daughter arguing about something that had occurred between Petitioner and Minor. App. 62, l. 24 – 63, l. 24. Johnson said Minor was reluctant to talk to her, but Johnson maintained "she [Minor] gave me enough details to know that I needed to try and get her checked out." App. 63, l. 16 – 64, l. 23.

Johnson took Minor to see her pediatrician, Dr. Elzbieta Syed. After examining Minor, Dr. Syed told Johnson "that she couldn't rule in or out anything, but that she did not think there was any penetration..." App. 65, ll. 1-22. Johnson believed a friend contacted the Department of Social Services (DSS) and reported the allegations. App. 66, ll. 10-18. After an investigation, DSS reported the allegations to law enforcement. App. 114, l. 21 – 115, l. 15. Johnson ultimately took Minor to the Foothills Alliance Child Advocacy Center for a forensic interview. App. 67, ll. 3-8. Minor was interviewed on March 28, 2011 by Stacy Gianiodis. App. 173, ll. 11-22. The interview was recorded and played for the jury. App. 179, ll. 1-2. Minor was also physically examined by Dr. Sallie Carter on April 4, 2011. App. 192, l. 1 – 193, l. 7.

Minor was ten years old at the time of trial. App. 74, ll. 13-14. She testified that Petitioner touched her in a way she "didn't like" on more than one occasion. App. 77, ll. 2-6. Minor claimed Petitioner committed lewd acts with her and showed her pornographic videos on a portable DVD

player. App. 77, l. 9 – 91, l. 17. However, she unequivocally denied that there was any vaginal or anal penetration involved in the lewd acts. App. 94, ll. 5-15.

Minor testified that Petitioner told her not to tell anyone or they would both get in “very big trouble.” She also maintained Petitioner made her and her sister pray together for “forgiveness” for their sins. App. 91, l. 18 – 92, l. 3. While Minor did claim at trial that Petitioner had her perform oral sex on one occasion, trial counsel strongly attacked this belated allegation as “convenient” given the fact that Minor had never alleged oral sex before despite repeatedly being given the opportunity to do so. App. 87, l. 10 – 88, l. 8.

T.J., Minor’s younger sister, who was nine years old at the time of trial, testified that she remembered seeing Minor run out of Petitioner’s bedroom in her “panties” and shirt. Minor ran straight into their shared bedroom. App. 99, ll. 15-24. T.J. told her mother about this incident because she “thought it was wrong.” App. 102, ll. 6-14.

One of the key issues at trial was whether any penetration, or a sexual battery, occurred. This differentiated first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor from lewd act. Trial counsel argued in closing that the critical element of the criminal sexual conduct charge was penetration. He reminded the jury that Minor testified there was no vaginal or anal penetration in this case. Counsel further mocked the belated assertion that oral sex occurred. He asserted, “. . . and we’re just now hearing about oral sex six weeks before the trial [where it was not brought up during the forensic interview].” App. 268, ll. 2-9. Although Minor denied making up the oral sex allegation for purposes of trial, she had no explanation for her failure to reveal the alleged oral sex when she had previously been given numerous opportunities to do so. App. 218, l. 14 – 219, l. 13.

Dr. Sallie Carter, who was qualified as an expert in child sexual assault examinations, examined Minor on April 4, 2011, over two months after Minor was examined by Dr. Syed, her

pediatrician. App. 192, l. 1 – 193, l. 7. Dr. Carter maintained that the “posterior portion” of Minor’s hymen was absent, which was “an abnormal finding.” App. 195, ll. 11-14. Even though Minor specifically denied that any vaginal or anal penetration occurred, Dr. Carter was allowed to testify over objection, that after watching Minor’s forensic interview, her injuries were consistent with penetration. App. 205, l. 7 – 211, l. 21.

An Anderson County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on December 6, 2011 for first degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC), and on April 16, 2013 for lewd act upon a child. App. 614-617. His case was called to trial on May 13, 2013 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 1. Petitioner was tried in his absence after he did not appear for trial. App. 31, l. 5 – 32, l. 14. Assistant Solicitors Kristin Reeves and Lauren Price represented the state. App. 1. G. Scott Thomason represented Petitioner. App. 1. On September 12, 2013, the sealed sentence was opened by Judge McIntosh. Supp. App. 1. Petitioner was sentenced to twenty-five years for first degree CSC and fifteen years concurrent for lewd act. Supp. App. 2, ll. 1-14.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentence in an unpublished opinion. State v. Clemons, 2016-UP-436 (S.C. Ct. App. filed October 19, 2016); App. 350-351. This Court subsequently denied Petitioner’s petition for writ of certiorari by order filed December 1, 2016. App. 405.

On February 10, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 408-423. The state filed a return to this application dated May 12, 2017. App. 424-433. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed a supplemental application on June 1, 2017 and an amended application on February 13, 2020. App. 434-442. An evidentiary hearing was convened on February 19, 2020 before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. App. 443. Assistant

Attorney General Taylor Smith represented the state. App. 443. Susannah Ross represented Petitioner. App. 443.

By order filed June 8, 2020, the PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. App. 555-607. On June 9, 2020, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. App. 608-612. The PCR judge denied the motion by order filed June 16, 2020. App. 613.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated and Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to call Dr. Elzbieta Syed, a pediatrician, as a witness during Petitioner's trial, where Dr. Syed examined Minor after the sexual abuse allegations arose and found Minor's hymen was intact, which indicated no trauma or penetration, and where Petitioner was prejudiced since, without Dr. Syed's testimony, the testimony of Dr. Sallie Carter, a state expert witness who maintained a portion of Minor's hymen was absent, which was consistent with penetration, went unchallenged, particularly where Dr. Carter's testimony was the only physical evidence against Petitioner.

Relevant Facts

During Petitioner's jury trial, the state called Dr. Sallie Carter as a witness. Dr. Carter was qualified as an expert in child sexual assault examinations. She examined Minor on April 4, 2011, over two months after Minor was examined by Dr. Syed, her pediatrician. App. 192, l. 1 – 193, l. 7. Dr. Carter maintained that the "posterior portion" of Minor's hymen was absent, which was "an abnormal finding." App. 195, ll. 11-14. Even though Minor specifically denied that any vaginal or anal penetration occurred, Dr. Carter was allowed to testify over objection, that after watching Minor's forensic interview, her injuries were consistent with penetration. App. 205, l. 7 – 211, l. 21.

Petitioner called Dr. Elzbieta Syed as a witness during his PCR hearing. Dr. Syed, a pediatrician, had worked for Piedmont Children's Clinic for over twenty-four years. App. 449, ll. 6-16. Minor was her patient. App. 450, ll. 2-6. Dr. Syed physically examined Minor on January 28, 2011 immediately after the sexual abuse allegations arose. App. 450, ll. 7-19; App.

546. She found Minor had a “crescent hymen,” which is normal for a child Minor’s age. App. 452, ll. 10-21. Dr. Syed asserted that the border of Minor’s hymen was “smooth,” indicating Minor had not suffered any trauma or penetration at the time of the exam. App. 452, l. 22 – 453, l. 6. The report from her examination of Minor was marked as Applicant’s Exhibit No. 1 during the hearing. App. 546.

Petitioner’s trial counsel, Scott Thomason, died before the PCR hearing, and consequently, he did not testify. App. 445, ll. 18-19. However, Kristen Reeves, the assistant solicitor who prosecuted Petitioner, testified that she provided trial counsel with a copy of Dr. Syed’s report, which reflected Syed’s findings from her examination of Minor, through the discovery process. Reeves also provided counsel with a copy of the DSS records, which referenced Dr. Syed’s examination. App. 488, l. 21 – 489, l. 7. Reeves testified that she spoke with Dr. Syed at some point before trial. She maintained that she did not call Dr. Syed as a witness at trial, not because Dr. Syed’s opinion conflicted with her theory of the case and Petitioner’s guilt, but because Dr. Syed supposedly told Reeves that she “had no sexual assault training.” App. 520, ll. 7-19.

Notably, Dr. Syed testified during the hearing that, in addition to having twenty-seven years of experience as a pediatrician, her medical training included sexual abuse and how to conduct genital exams. App. 454, ll. 1-22. She stated she had taken classes that specifically concerned sexual abuse and sexual trauma to the body. App. 458, l. 20 – 459, l. 8. During the course of her medical career, she had treated or examined around one hundred female patients who had potentially suffered from sexual abuse. App. 459, l. 16 – 460, l. 4.

The PCR judge denied Petitioner relief. He found Petitioner failed to show Dr. Syed had the proper qualifications to testify as an expert in child sexual assault examinations. App. 598.

The judge further concluded that trial counsel was not deficient for failing to present Dr. Syed as a witness or introduce the records from her examination of Minor because Dr. Syed's testimony would not have been "particularly helpful to the defense." This conclusion was based on the fact that Dr. Syed testified that, while Minor's hymen was intact, "she could not rule out the possibility that [Minor] had been sexually abused." App. 598-599. The judge also maintained that Dr. Syed lacked the qualifications to diagnose sexual assault injuries compared to Dr. Carter. App. 599.

Discussion

The PCR judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to call Dr. Syed as a witness during Petitioner's trial. Dr. Syed examined Minor after the sexual abuse allegations arose and found Minor's hymen was intact, which indicated no trauma or penetration. Significantly, Dr. Syed's examination took place in January 2011 before Dr. Sallie Carter examined Minor in April of that same year. Petitioner was prejudiced since, without Dr. Syed's testimony, the testimony of Dr. Carter, who maintained a portion of Minor's hymen was absent, which was consistent with penetration, went unchallenged, particularly where Dr. Carter's testimony was the only physical evidence against Petitioner. Dr. Syed's findings indicated either Minor suffered an injury to her hymen after Dr. Syed examined her but before Dr. Carter's examination, or that Dr. Carter's findings were unreliable or suspect.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper

measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

The state alleged at trial that Petitioner sexually abused Minor between December 2009 and August 2010. In August 2010, Petitioner moved out of the family home and no longer had any contact with Minor. In January 2011, five months later, Minor was physically examined by Dr. Syed, her pediatrician. Dr. Syed, who had practiced medicine at Piedmont Children’s Center for over twenty-four years at the time of the evidentiary hearing, found Minor’s hymen was intact and that there was no evidence of trauma or sexual abuse. It was undisputed that trial counsel was aware of Dr. Syed and her findings. The assistant solicitor who prosecuted the case testified at the evidentiary hearing that she provided counsel with a copy of Dr. Syed’s report during the discovery process. Moreover, counsel briefly mentioned Dr. Syed’s findings during trial.

Trial counsel was deficient for failing to present Dr. Syed as a witness during Petitioner’s trial and introduce her records, which included her findings, as an exhibit because Syed’s testimony would have directly challenged Dr. Carter’s testimony that Minor’s hymen was partially absent when Carter examined Minor in April 2011. See Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005), *overruled on other grounds by* Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). Dr.

Carter's testimony was the only physical evidence against Petitioner. Therefore, it was particularly powerful for the state. If counsel had presented Dr. Syed as a witness, her testimony would have called into question Dr. Carter's findings and suggested they were unreliable or would have indicated Minor suffered a penetrating injury to her hymen after January 2011, which could not have been caused by Petitioner because he no longer had any contact with Minor. Consequently, there is no evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Dr. Syed's testimony would not have been "particularly helpful to the defense." See App. 599. For these same reasons, Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance as there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different if Dr. Syed had testified.

Respectfully, this Court should grant certiorari, hold the PCR judge erred by denying Petitioner relief, and reverse his convictions and sentence.

2.

The post-conviction relief (PCR) judge erred by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when he failed to object to the testimony of Dr. Sallie Carter, who was qualified as an expert in child sexual assault examinations, where Carter asserted that after watching Minor's forensic interview, she was "more concerned" and "more convinced" that Minor's injury was caused by penetration and that Minor's "report . . . together with an abnormal genital exam, to me in my professional opinion, that's like saying one and one is two or two and two is four. I wasn't there. I didn't see it. But I have a lot of experience in this area . . ." since this testimony constituted improper bolstering and vouching, and where Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because there is a reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different if counsel had objected.

Relevant Facts

During Petitioner's jury trial, the state called Dr. Sallie Carter as a witness. Dr. Carter was qualified as an expert in child sexual assault examinations. She examined Minor on April 4, 2011, over two months after Minor was examined by Dr. Syed, her pediatrician. App. 192, l. 1 – 193, l. 7. Dr. Carter maintained that the "posterior portion" of Minor's hymen was absent, which was "an abnormal finding." App. 195, ll. 11-14. Even though Minor specifically denied that any vaginal or anal penetration occurred, Dr. Carter was allowed to testify over objection, that after watching Minor's forensic interview, her injuries were consistent with penetration. App. 205, l. 7 – 211, l. 21. Specifically, Dr. Carter testified that she was "more concerned" and "more convinced" after watching Minor's forensic interview and learning of her specific allegations, that Minor's injury was caused by penetration. App. 206, l. 4 – 207, l. 20.

Dr. Carter then testified:

The child [Minor] reported [during the forensic interview] that there was sexually explicit material played at least some of the time when the individual was involving her in sexual activity. And she indicated that this happened a number of times. And she indicated that it was at his invitation that she get under the blanket with him, that she do this. She indicated that he had taken her pants down, you know. So that **when you put that report by an eight-year-old child together with an abnormal exam, to me in my professional opinion, that's like saying one and one is two or two and two is four. I wasn't there. I didn't see it. But I have a lot of experience in this area.**

App. 211, ll. 10-21 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel did not object to this testimony. As mentioned above, Petitioner's trial counsel died before the PCR hearing. Consequently, he did not testify at the hearing. However, Petitioner's direct appeal counsel, Robert Dudek, was questioned during the hearing as to why he did not argue on appeal that Dr. Carter's testimony constituted improper bolstering or vouching. Dudek explained that the argument was not preserved for appellate review because trial counsel did not raise the objection at trial. However, he asserted that if the objection had been raised below, he would have raised the argument on appeal. Dudek contended, "Yes, I think if this had been objected to, then that would be definitely an issue worth raising because it would be a person who was qualified as an expert, you know, albeit without objection or by stipulation, and then allowing the expert to say - - this on page 210, [lines] 10 to 21 (Appendix page 211, lines 10-21), it seems to be vouching for the child's testimony." Dudek further asserted, citing to State v. Kromah, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013), that "it would be improper for a forensic interviewer to testify in this manner, so I don't know why it would be proper for Dr. Carter to watch the forensic interview and then give an opinion like this." App. 535, l. 10 – 537, l. 24.

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