STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 12 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Anderson County

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Trial Judge
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000941

ANDREW ANTONIO CLEMONS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

I thought [Dr. Syed] was telling me basically what to do. You know, she told me to call the counselor, and that’s what I did. And I felt also if we were in there and it felt like it need – you know, if anything went wrong that [Dr. Syed] would have told me, you know, well, you need to go contact the police or she would have contacted the police while we were there.

App. 73. The jury did not hear from Dr. Syed directly at trial, but they heard through the testimony of the victim’s mother Dr. Syed’s conclusion that no penetration occurred, or at least that there was no evidence of “full” penetration at that time, based upon the doctor’s examination of the victim’s hymen. It was clear to the jury that Dr. Syed’s medical opinion was that there was no reason to be alarmed because Dr. Syed did not get law enforcement involved and because the victim’s mother did not get law enforcement involved based upon her reliance upon Dr. Syed’s medical opinion. Trial counsel elicited that evidence at trial through his questioning of the victim’s mother. Since evidence of Dr. Syed’s opinion had thus been admitted—and by way of the victim’s own mother, no less—there was no need for trial counsel to call Dr. Syed as a witness merely to

have her repeat the same information. See Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 457-58, 710 S.E.2d 60, 65 (2011) (finding that a lawyer’s decision not to call someone as a witness was reasonable, in part, because the witness would have provided cumulative testimony).

Second, trial counsel may have thought that Dr. Syed’s opinion as to the condition of the victim’s hymen would have been of little value to the defense. Dr. Syed testified at the evidentiary hearing that she had seen “a lot of cases of sexual abuse” during her medical training, that she had completed approximately three months’ of training in a sexual abuse clinic, and that she had she had dealt with approximately 100 potential sexual abuse cases in total during her training and subsequent medical practice. App. 454, 459-60. Assistant Solicitor Reeves testified that she interviewed Dr. Syed before trial and that Dr. Syed had told her at that time that “she had no sexual assault training,” which is the reason that Reeves did not call Dr. Syed as a witness during the State’s case-in-chief. App. 520. Additionally, Dr. Syed used only a flashlight to perform her examination, which “probably” lasted for a couple of minutes, at best. App. 460-61. A lawyer’s decision not to do some investigation should be assessed for reasonableness under all the circumstances with heavy deference to counsel’s judgment. Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 597, 627 S.E.2d 701, 706 (2006). “[A] court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel’s challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel’s conduct.” Id. at 690; Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 265, 763 S.E.2d 630, 633-34 (S.C. Ct. App. 2014). We do not know whether or not trial counsel interviewed Dr. Syed, as Petitioner did not put that information before the PCR court. However, if trial counsel had, it would have certainly given him a valid reason not to call Dr. Syed as a witness for the defense if Dr. Syed had told him the same thing that she told to the assistant solicitor or if he had been aware

of the cursory nature of her examination. There would have been need for trial counsel to call a witness who was “neutral” as to whether abuse had occurred. App. 455-56. The PCR court correctly found that Dr. Syed’s testimony would not have been very helpful to the defense had she given it at trial. App. 599.

Third, trial counsel may have thought that there was a chance that Dr. Syed would give testimony harmful to the defense if she were to testify at trial. Dr. Syed wrote in her note from the examination of the victim that she “can’t rule out or rule in [the] possibility of sexual abuse”. App. 546. Dr. Syed testified that her findings suggested that there was not “[n]o trauma at that time,” which left open the possibility that trauma had occurred at some other time. Dr. Syed did see “some space” in the victim’s hymen. App. 455. Dr. Syed reasoned that it was possible that the victim had been abused sexually. App. 455. Dr. Syed’s inability to say whether the victim was sexually abused was due to her belief that “[t]here was not any physical evidence at that moment.” App. 455. Dr. Syed’s note alone could have given any defense lawyer a reasonable fear that Dr. Syed, if she were to testify at trial, could make some statement damaging to the defense because it left open the possibility that the victim had been abused sexually. If trial counsel did, in fact, speak with Dr. Syed before trial and heard her make statements similar to those she made during her testimony before the PCR court, it would certainly have been reasonable for trial counsel to worry that Dr. Syed would say something harmful to the defense if she were on the witness stand. No matter the reason that trial counsel chose not to call Dr. Syed as a witness, the record certainly “does not reveal that counsel took an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen.” Dunn, No. 20-1084 at *4 (quotation omitted).

Petitioner has failed to prove that he suffered prejudice from trial's counsel's performance as to this claim. First, the assistant solicitor's testimony that Dr. Syed told them that she had no training in sexual abuse casts serious doubt on Dr. Syed's credibility. Dr. Syed testified before the PCR court to a certain extent about training that she had received in sexual abuse cases while completing her medical education and about sexual abuse exams that she had conducted in her work since completing her medical training. Since Dr. Syed maintained at the evidentiary hearing that she had good knowledge about sexual abuse examinations but told the assistant solicitor before Petitioner's trial that she knew nothing about them, Dr. Syed's credibility on the issue of sexual abuse examinations is in doubt. Second, the testimony from the victim's mother about the way Dr. Syed conducted her evaluation calls into question Dr. Syed's credibility. Dr. Syed testified that her examination "probably" lasted for minutes and involved the use of a flashlight. That testimony was directly contradicted by the mother's testimony, which was that Dr. Syed looked at the victim for "maybe, like 10 or 15 seconds." App. 526. The PCR court limited Respondent's ability to challenge Dr. Syed's credibility regarding the thoroughness and circumstances of her examination of the victim, but there is evidence enough for this Court to question Dr. Syed's credibility. See Hillerby v. State, 431 S.C. 323, 334, 847 S.E.2d 500, 505 (S.C. Ct. App. 2020) (acknowledging that there are times in which it is appropriate for a PCR court to reject expert testimony due to the lack of witness credibility).

Third, Petitioner did not seek to have Dr. Syed qualified as an expert witness at the evidentiary hearing, so the Court should not take into account Dr. Syed's opinion about the state of the victim's hymen and whether sexual abuse is indicated thereby. "[B]efore a witness is qualified as an expert, the circuit court must find (1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of

fact, (2) the expert possesses the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, and (3) the expert's testimony is reliable." State v. Andrews, 424 S.C. 304, 316, 818 S.E.2d 227, 234 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018) (quotation omitted). "The party offering the expert has the burden of showing his witness possess the necessary learning, skill, or practical experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony." Id. at 317, 818 S.E.2d at 234 (quotation omitted). In the evidentiary hearing, not only did Petitioner not offer Dr. Syed as an expert, one qualified to assess the state of the victim's hymen, but Petitioner went further by resisting Respondent's attempts to assess the doctor's qualifications. App. 451, 453-54, 460. For this reason, the PCR court found that Petitioner failed to show that Dr. Syed was properly qualified to testify as an expert in child sexual assault examinations, meaning that Petitioner failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of his trial would have been different had Dr. Syed testified at trial and had her notes been offered into evidence by trial counsel. App. 599. Furthermore, the testimonies of Dr. Syed and the victim's mother show that Dr. Syed's procedure for determining whether there was damage to the victim's hymen and determining the source of any damage was likely less reliable than Dr. Carter's.

Fourth, there was evidence that Petitioner was guilty independent of the evidence regarding the victim's hymen. Petitioner was convicted of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. App. 618. "A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree if: [] the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1). As it is used in section 16-3-655, "sexual battery" includes fellatio and "any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or of any object into the genital or anal openings of another person's body" S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-651(h). The victim testified

at trial that Petitioner put his penis in her mouth, put his hands on her head, moved her head up and down on his penis, and ejaculated into her mouth. App. 87-88. “Fellatio” is “[t]he sexual act involving oral stimulation of a person’s penis.” Fellatio, BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019). Dr. Syed did not testify about the victim’s allegation that Petitioner made her fellate him nor did she testify about whether there was any physical evidence of fellatio. Since Dr. Syed’s testimony was focused on the state of the victim’s hymen and the possibility that Petitioner had penetrated the victim, the evidence that Petitioner had the victim fellate him is wholly independent of the evidence of his penetration of her genitals. The jury likely would have convicted Petitioner of criminal sexual conduct even if Dr. Carter had not testified at trial about the condition of the victim’s hymen. And even Dr. Syed did not foreclose on the possibility that the victim was penetrated vaginally in some form or fashion by Petitioner. Dr. Syed’s testimony and the information contained in her examination note did absolutely nothing to negate one of the elements of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor.

Petitioner was also convicted of committing a lewd act upon a child. App. 619. A person over the age of fourteen commits a lewd act upon a child whenever he:

Willfully and lewdly commit[s] . . . a lewd or lascivious act upon or with the body, or its parts, of a child under the age of sixteen years, with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions or sexual desires of the person or of the child.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-140 (repealed 2012). The victim testified at trial that Petitioner touched his penis to her private parts and moved her back and forth and that he had her fellate him while he moved her head up and down on his penis. App. 78-79, 87-88. The victim’s testimony about these acts was evidence that Petitioner committed lewd and lascivious acts upon the victim’s body. See Dep’t of Soc. Services v. Forrester, 282 S.C. 512, 320 S.E.2d 39 (S.C. Ct. App. 1984) (finding

that Forrester's fondling the breasts and vagina of a child was sufficient to constitute a violation of this section). Petitioner has failed to prove that Dr. Syed's testimony and note would have had any effect on the jury's verdict as to the crime of lewd act as it could be proven without any evidence whatsoever about the victim's hymen. Certiorari should be denied.

II. The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to prove that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not raising a vouching or bolstering objection to some of Dr. Carter's testimony because Petitioner has not proven that there is a reasonable likelihood that he would have been acquitted even in the absence of the testimony.

Petitioner argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not raising a bolstering or vouching objection to some of Dr. Carter's testimony because the testimony improperly bolstered or vouched for the minor victim's credibility and because the trial hinged on the victim's credibility. Dr. Carter, the prosecution's expert witness, made some improper statements after watching the recording of the forensic interview of the victim. App. 205-07, 210-11. Nevertheless, the PCR court found that Petitioner failed to demonstrate that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome of the trial would have been different had trial counsel objected to those comments. App. 593. The PCR court was correct because the statements from Dr. Carter were related to Dr. Carter's testimony about the condition of the victim's hymen, and there was evidence of Petitioner's guilt wholly independent from the evidence regarding the victim's hymen.

Dr. Carter testified that she was more concerned after watching the video recording because she did not think that the victim had the ability to "completely describe how the injury occurred" and noted that the victim reported "that there was skin-to-skin contact." App. 205-07. Dr. Carter testified that "one and one is two or two and two is four" after saying that she was considering the victim's allegations that Petitioner removed her pants and invited the victim to get under a blanket with him, along with Dr. Carter's finding of an abnormality during her examination of the victim's

genitals. App. 211. While opining that the victim may not have had the life experiences or vocabulary to inform others that Petitioner had penetrated her vaginally, Dr. Carter testified that, while referring to the video recording that she had watched, adults have to be careful to listen to and watch children “because they will tell you things in their moments of silence or when they point to pictures, you know, as well as when they speak with their mouths.” App. 213-14. In these instances, Dr. Carter was linking her statements about the video recording with the abnormality she observed in the victim’s hymen. Dr. Carter was at trial, after all, to testify about the condition of the victim’s hymen in order to support the prosecution’s case that Petitioner penetrated the victim vaginally. The victim testified at trial that Petitioner put his penis in her mouth, put his hands on her head, moved her head up and down on his penis, and ejaculated into her mouth. App. 87-88. This evidence was wholly independent of the evidence of Petitioner’s penetration of the victim’s vagina. The jury likely would have convicted Petitioner of criminal sexual conduct even if Dr. Carter had not testified at trial about the condition of the victim’s hymen or about the forensic interview of the victim. Similarly, the victim’s testimony about the fellatio was evidence that Petitioner committed lewd and lascivious acts upon the victim’s body independent of anything that Dr. Carter thought about the victim’s hymen or forensic interview. Furthermore, as the PCR court noted, the victim’s sister testified at trial that she had witnessed the victim running from Petitioner’s room to the siblings’ room wearing only panties and a shirt. App. 99-100, 593. Petitioner’s case is, as a result, distinguishable from Chappell v. State, in which the Court of Appeals found that Chappell had successfully proven that his lawyer’s error caused him to suffer prejudice because “the only evidence against Chappell was the victim’s **uncorroborated** testimony.” 429 S.C. 68, 81, 837 S.E.2d 496, 502 (S.C. Ct. App. 2019) (emphasis added).

This Court should not grant the petition as to this claim. The PCR court correctly denied relief because Petitioner failed to prove that there is a reasonable likelihood that he would have been acquitted if trial counsel had objected to the aforementioned testimony from Dr. Carter on the basis of vouching or bolster. The victim's testimony, and her sister's corroborating testimony, provided evidence of Petitioner's guilt as to both charges regardless of the condition of the victim's hymen and Dr. Carter's consideration of the medical evidence along with the victim's allegations. Even if Dr. Carter's testimony had been suppressed or stricken in its entirety, there would have been sufficient evidence to convict Petitioner of his crimes. For that reason, this Court should deny the petition.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.